A PROFILE OF THE SOUTH AFRICAN APPLE MARKET VALUE CHAIN





Directorate Marketing Private Bag X 15 Arcadia 0007 Arcadia Tel: 012 319 8455 Fax: 012 319 8131. E-mail: PA.DM@Dalrrd.gov.za...... www.dalrrd.gov.za



agriculture, land reform & rural development

Department: Agriculture, Land Reform and Rural Development REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. DESCRIPTION OF THE APPLE INDUSTRY	4
1.1 Apple production areas	4
1.2 Apple production	5
1.3 Apple cultivars	6
1.4 Employment	7
2. MARKET STRUCTURE	8
2.1 Domestic markets and prices for apples	8
2.2 Apple exports and imports	9
2.2.1 Exports	9
2.2.2 Imports	17
2.3 Provincial and district export values of South African apples	18
2.4 Share Analysis	27
2.5 Processing	30
3. MARKET INTELLIGENCE	. 32
3.1 Competitiveness of South African apple exports	32
3.2 South Africa vs. Southern hemisphere production	36
3.3 South Africa vs. Southern hemisphere exports in 2014	36
4. MARKET ACCESS	. 37
4.1 Tariffs, quotas and the price entry system	37
4.2 European Union (EU)	41
4.2.1 Tariff barriers	42
4.2.2 Non tariff barriers	42
4.2.2.1 Legal requirements	42
4.2.2.2 Non-legal requirements	43
4.2.2.3 Consumer health and safety requirements	44
4.3 United States of America (USA)	45
4.3.1 Tariff barriers	45
4.3.2 Non tariff barriers	45
5. DISTRIBUTION CHANNELS	. 46
6. LOGISTICS	.47
6.1 Mode of transport	47
6.2 Cold chain management	47
6.3 Packaging	47
7. ORGANIZATIONAL ANALYSIS	. 48
7.1 Producer and associated organizations	48
7.2 Strengths, Weaknesses Opportunities and Threat analysis	50
7.3 Strategic challenges	50
7.3.1 Labour markets	50
7.3.2 Intrastructure	51
7.3.3 Other challenges	51
7.4 Opportunities	51
7.5 Empowerment issues and transformation in the sector	52

8. APPLE SUPPLY VALUE CHAIN	52
8.1 Suppliers of inputs and farming requisites	52
8.2 Producers	52
8.3 Fresh produce markets	53
8.4 Retailers	53
8.5 Processors	53
8.6 Cold storage operators and transporters	53
8.7 Exporters	53
8.8 PPECB	54
8.9 Terminal and port operators	54
9. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	57

List of figures

Figure 1: Total value of production for fresh apples, 2006/07 - 2015/16	4
Figure 2: Production areas of apple, 2016	5
Figure 3: Total production of apples, 2006/07 - 2015/16	6
Figure 4: Apples cultivars, 2016	7
Figure 5: Apple crop distribution, 2006/07 - 2015/16	8
Figure 6: Local apple sales, 2006/07 - 2015/16	9
Figure 7: South African apple exports, 2007 - 2016	. 11
Figure 8: Volume of apples exported to various regions of the world, 2007 - 2016	. 12
Figure 9: Volume of apple exports to various regions of Africa, 2007 - 2016	. 13
Figure 10: Volume of apple exports to various countries of Western Africa, SADC and SACU	
regions, 2007 - 2016	14
Figure 11: Volume of apple exports to various regions in Europe, 2007 - 2016	15
Figure 12: Volume of apple exports to European Union member states, 2007 - 2016	16
Figure 13: Volume of apple exports to Asia, 2007 - 2016	17
Figure 14: Volume of apple imports from various regions of the world, 2007 - 2016	18
Figure 15: Value of apple exports by provinces, 2007 - 2016	. 19
Figure 16: Value of apple exports by the Western Cape province, 2007 - 2016	20
Figure 17: Value of apple exports from Gauteng province, 2007 - 2016	21
Figure 18: Value of apple exports from Kwazulu Natal province, 2007 - 2016	. 22
Figure 19: Value of apple exports from Eastern Cape province, 2007 - 2016	. 23
Figure 20: Value of apple exports by Free State province, 2007 - 2016	. 24
Figure 21: Value of apple exports by Northern Cape province, 2007 - 2016	. 24
Figure 22: Value of apple exports by Limpopo province, 2007 - 2016	. 25
Figure 23: Value of apple exports by North West province, 2007 - 2016	26
Figure 24: Value of apple exports by Mpumalanga province, 2007 - 2016	26
Figure 25: Apple purchased for processing, 2006/07 - 2015/16	31
Figure 26: Growth in demand for the South African apples in 2016	. 33
Figure 27: South African apples' prospects for market diversification in 2016	35
Figure 28: Southern hemisphere apple production, 2006 - 2015	36

1. DESCRIPTION OF THE APPLE INDUSTRY

Apples are one of the most important deciduous fruits grown in South Africa, taking into consideration their foreign exchange earnings, employment creation and linkages with support institutions. During the 2018/19 season, apples contributed approximately 31.3% (R5.7 billion) of the total gross value for deciduous fruits (R18.2 billion) in South Africa. Per capita consumption of deciduous and subtropical fruit in South Africa during was 24.44 kilograms per year. This represented a 2.1% decrease from the 2018 figure of 24.98 kilograms per year.

The South African apple industry is export oriented with approximately half of the apples produced being absorbed by the export market. Majority of South African apples are available in many northern hemisphere countries during their winter and spring seasons. The bulk of these sales to the consumer are by means of contractual agreements via preferred category suppliers to the large supermarket chains. Furthermore, various export companies or agents conduct this business based on consignment sales on behalf of the growers or packers. The industry operates in a deregulated environment where prices are determined by the market forces of demand and supply. Total value of production of apples for the period 2008/09 to 2018/19 is shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1: Total value of production for fresh apples, 2008/09 – 2018/19

Source: Statistics and Economic Analysis, DAFF

Figure 1 shows that there has been a general increase in the gross value of apples during the last ten years. The only declines during the period under review were recorded during the 2009/10 (6.9%), 2013/14 (0.18%) and 2016/17 (12.9%) production seasons. This was mainly the result of unfavourable weather conditions (drought and heat waves) in certain parts of the apple producing areas, especially the Western Cape. The total gross value for apples increased by 101% during the ten years under review. The 2018/19 production season also experienced a 5.2% decline in total gross value when compared to the previous production season (2017/18).

1.1 Apple production areas

South Africa's main apple producing areas are Groenland, Ceres, Villiersdorp (all in the Western Cape) and Langkloof East in the Eastern Cape. The Western Cape province account for more than half of all the apples produced in South Africa. Apple production areas in 2019 are shown in Figure 2.



Figure 2: Production areas of apple, 2019

Source: Hortgro Tree Census, 2017

Total production area for apples in 2019 was 24 931 hectares. This represents a 3% increase from the 2018 figure of 24 176 hectares. Figure 2 above shows that in terms of the area planted to apples in hectares, Ceres accounted for 30% with 7 549 ha, Groenland accounted for 29% with 7 139 ha, Villiersdorp accounted for 16% with 3 155 ha and Langkloof East accounted for 13% with 1 253 ha. Other production areas (excluding Groenland, Ceres, Langkloof West, Villiersdorp, Free State, Langkloof West, Southern Cape, Piketberg, Mpumalanga) accounted for 1% of total area planted to apples in 2019.

1.2 Apple production

In 2019, the apple orchard age distribution was as follows:

- 2 788 ha (11%) was in the category of 0 3 years;
- 6 982 ha (28%) was in the 4 10 years category;

- 3 173 ha (13%) was in the 11 15 years category;
- 4 710 ha (19%) was in the 16 25 years category; and
- 7 277 ha (29%) were older than 25 years.

For sustainable and consistent supply the replacement stock (0 - 3 years) must be kept at 10% or higher. The data above clearly indicate that the South African apple industry is sufficiently replacing its stock. Production units in most of the apple growing areas are over 30 ha. A number of apple growers (units larger than 60 ha) operate their own packing and cold storage operations. Economies of scale, consistency in yield and quality are the key characteristics of these operations. Total production of apples for the period 2009/10 to 2018/19 is shown in Figure 3.



Figure 3: Total production of apples, 2009/10 – 2018/19

Figure 3 indicates that South African apple production increased from 753 167 tons in 2009/10 to 856 642 tons in 2018/19 and this represents a 12% increase in production tonnages during the last ten years. Production decreased by 10% between 2012/13 and 2013/14 production season and this decrease came after a 11% increase in tonnages produced between the 2011/12 and 2012/13 production seasons. In 2014/15 season, production increased significantly by 14%. Production volume was at its highest in 2016/17 at 958 925 tons. Apple production declined by 12% in 2017/18 compared to 2016/17 season and increased slightly by 1.6% in 2018/19. The trough was reached in 2009/10 at 753 167 tons.

1.3 Apple cultivars

South Africa's main apple cultivars are Granny Smith, Golden Delicious, Royal Gala, Pink Lady, Fuji and Topred. Figure 4 shows that in 2019, Golden Delicious accounted for 22% (5 493 ha) of the total area planted, followed by Royal Gala at 17% (4 210 ha) and Granny Smith at 14% (3 469 ha). Pink Lady and Topred follow with 12% each at 3 023 ha and 2 388 ha respectively. Fuji is also an important cultivar grown in South Africa and was planted on 2 197 ha in 2019.

Source: Statistics and Economic Analysis, DAFF

Figure 4: Apples cultivars, 2019



Source: Hortgro Tree Census 2019

1.4 Employment

The apple industry makes an important contribution to direct employment in the apple production and processing. It provides indirect employment for numerous support industries in the areas where apples are grown. In 2019, direct employment within the industry was estimated at 30 165 people with 120 662 dependents. This represents a 10 percent increase in the number of people employed in the apple industry between 2018 and 2019. Full-time labourers employed on apple farms are primarily employed for a number of specialist tasks such as pruning of trees. Labour is also required to carry out thinning practices during blooming or during the first four weeks of fruit growth. Other tasks include harvesting, supervision, operational duties in the pack house, irrigation management, scouting for insects and diseases on seasonal basis, tractor or forklift driving and grafting. Seasonal labour is employed on a contractual basis for a fixed period of time with the main purpose of harvesting or fruit packing.

The minimum Wage Act 9 of 2019 came into effect in January 2019. The Act applies to all workers and their employers, except members of the South African National Defence Force, the National Intelligence Agency, the South African Secret Service, and volunteers who perform work for another person without remuneration. Under this Act, farm workers are entitled to a minimum wage of R18.68 per hour. The Act establishes the National Minimum Wage Commission, which is task to review the national minimum wage make recommendations to the minister on any adjustment of the national minimum wage.

2. MARKET STRUCTURE

The distribution of apples across the various markets during the period 2009/10 to 2018/19 is shown in Figure 5. As illustrated in the figure, apple production in South Africa is primarily aimed at both the export and local markets as well as processing. Dried fruit production is relatively insignificant. During the 2018/19 marketing season approximately 50 percent (420 243 tons) of the total crop produced was exported, 32 percent (270 539 tons) was processed, 17 percent (146 717 tons) was sent to the local markets and the remaining 0.2 percent (1 460 tons) was dried. The local market has been stable in the last ten years, moving from 136 209 tons in 2009/10 to 146 717 tons in 2018/19. In 2014/15, volumes to local markets increased narrowly by 1.7% however volumes sold in the NFPMs declined by 1.1% in 2015/16 season. During the 2018/19, volumes sold at the local markets declined slightly from 149 199 tons to 146 717 tons. The volume of exports increased significantly between 2014/15 and 2016/17 after experiencing downward trend between 2010/11 until 2013/14. Apple exports increased by 9.6% between 2014/15 and 2015/16 marketing seasons and a further 8% increase in 2016/17. In 2018/19, exports of apples to the world increased by 4.9% compared to the previous season. The volume of apples processed increased from 242 716 tons in 2017/18 to 270 539 tons in 2018/19. This represents an increase of 32%.



Figure 5: Apple crop distribution, 2009/10 – 2018/19

Source: Statistics and Economic Analysis, DAFF; Hortgro, 2016; Quantec Easydata

2.1 Domestic markets and prices for apples

Local apple market volumes and general price trends from 2009/10 to 2018/19 are presented in Figure 6. As illustrated in Figure 6, volumes of apples sold at local markets have been stable during the period under review. Apple sales grew from 158 718 in 2013/14 to 159 664 during 2015/16 marketing season, representing less than percent increase. In period between 2014/15 and 2018/19, local sales of apples has been on the decline, moving from 161 457 tons to 146 717 tons. At the same time prices realised at the local markets have been increasing throughout the past decade, and only stabilised between 2009/10 to 2018/19 marketing seasons. Prices realised in the local markets have also been increasing during the past

ten years, moving from R4 301/ton in 2009/10 to R7 591/ton in 2018/19. Prices declined by less than 10% in 2018/19 season. It is important to note that prices discovered in the local fresh produce markets serve as reference prices in other markets, particularly the processing and drying markets.



Figure 6: Local apple sales, 2009/10 - 2018/19

Prices on the local markets are largely influenced by seasonality in production, perishability of produce and the amount of apples exported (availability of apples on the local market). The impact of seasonality is to some extent cushioned by cold storage facilities that ensure regular apple supplies in the local markets. Demand factors such as consumer habits, substitution between products and per capita income also influence prices.

The variability in prices in different markets increases as the distance from the surplus apple producing regions increases. For example, the Cape Town Fresh Produce Market (FPM) which is located in a surplus apple producing region has the lowest price movements, whereas, Johannesburg, Tshwane and Durban FPMs, which are all in deficit apple production regions and distant from the Western Cape, experience more price variability. Price spread amongst the markets also increases as the distance from the surplus region increases.

2.2 Apple exports and imports

2.2.1 Exports

South Africa is a relatively small apple grower in terms of global hectares. However, the country is a major volume exporter in global terms. Apples sold in the export markets generate a greater unit price than that achieved on the local market (See Table 1). The volumes and unit values of apples exported by South Africa during the past ten years are presented in Figure 7.

Table 1: Apple export perspective

Rand	%

Source: Statistics and Economic Analysis, DAFF

Sales Price	268.60	100
Receiver cost	42.15	15.7
Receiver commission	15.70	5.8
Delivery Price Receiver	210.75	78.5
Delivery Cost	14.47	5.4
CIF	196.28	73.1
Shipping cost	30.74	11.4
FOB	165.54	61.6
Export commission (R)	13.55	5.0
Local Cost	6.87	2.6
DIP	145.12	54.0
PPECB	0.75	0.3
Hortgro levies	1.00	0.4
Carton size	12.5	
Carton/Ton	80	

Volumes of apples exported by South Africa have been relatively unstable during the past decade, ranging between 391 169 and 539 695 tons and averaging 506 802 tons per annum. South African apple exports recorded a 34% decline between 2012 and 2014 after realising An 82% increase between 2010 and 2011. The 2012 and 2014 period was succeeded by three year successive growth between 2015 and 2017. Apple exports increased by 20% in 2019 compared to the previous season. In the meantime, the export net realisation (price) has also been unstable during the period under review. Prices experienced a sharp decline in 2010 and 2011 seasons. During 2011 seasons, it is clear that the demand for apples remained stable while the supply increased sharply and prices dropped. The decline in prices was followed by a sharp increase in prices between 2012 and 2013, moving from R4 711 to R8 876. Between 2014 and 2016, export prices remained fairly stables, only increasing by 2.7%. In 2017, prices dropped by 13%, increased in 2018 by 26% before declining again by 12% in 2019. Overall, the export market represents a very significant distribution channel for South African apples. The export market generates a huge amount of revenue for the South African economy.



Figure 7: South African apple exports, 2010 -2019

Source: Quantec Easydata

Exports of South African apples to the various regions of the world over the past decade are presented in Figure 8 below.

Figure 8 shows that total South African exports of apples increased from 391 169 tons in 2010 to 539 695 tons in 2019. This represents an increase of 38% during the past decade. It is also evident from Figure 8 that during the past decade most of South Africa's exports of apples were destined for the European, African and Asian markets. In 2019 exports to Africa accounted for 44% (204 429 tons) of total South African apple exports. Africa was followed by Europe and Asia at 33% (153 989 tons) and 23% (108 014 tons) respectively.

It is important to note that exports to South Africa's traditional market (Europe) have been stable remaining below 200 000 ton mark (with the exception of 2017). It is however interesting Europe as the traditional market for South African apple exports has been surpassed by Africa. Exports into the African market have been more than exports to South Africa's traditional market during the past ten years. Given their ever increasing population sizes and per capita incomes, the Africa continent present enormous opportunities for South African apple exports.

During the period under review exports to Africa peaked at 493 901 tons in 2011 and have been dominant in recent times while those to Asia peaked at 148 421 tons in 2017. Exports to this region (Asia) have been fairly stable between 2010 and 2014, only recording steady increases over the past 5 years. Exports of apples to Europe peaked at 206 360 tons in 2017 and have been declining over the past two years. Apple exports to the Americas have been relatively stable during the period under review. Figure 8 clearly indicates that South African apple exporters should pay more attention to the African and Asian markets as these markets are likely to grow even further in the near future.





Between 2010 and 2016, Africa has been the dominant importer of apples from South Africa. Africa has during 2010 season, surpassed Europe and Asia as the major destination for South African apples. Export volumes to Africa increased from 174 000 tons in 2010 to 204 429 tons in 2019, an increase of 17% in the past ten years. Within the continent the major export destinations for South African apples are West Africa and the Southern African Development Community (SADC). Given the relative importance of the African region to South African apple exports, volumes of South African apple exports to the different African regions during the last decade are depicted in Figure 9 below.

Source: Quantec Easydata

Superior 100000 35000000 25000000 15000000 1000000 5000000 5000000												
-	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	57511 23	2019	
Africa	173796	493957	337744	191564	181829	208516	201205	193948	186157	5327148	204429	
-Eastern Africa Rest	8805	9136	11108	13077	13480	18454	21173	21117	22259	6029975	24732	
Middle Africa Rest	7339	8000	9966	11745	9705	10231	11494	10935	10068	1,1E+07	10263	
Northern Africa	257	21	240	528	111	0	0	0	196	1E+07	167	
	33887	46436	68366	79619	72671	89386	79398	77529	72335	3,2E+07	87448	
SADC (excluding SACU)	35833	49954	55758	58026	56688	58052	54844	51271	50079	1,4E+07	49965	
SACU (Excluding RSA)	87674	380409	192307	28568	29174	32394	34296	33095	31219	8718008	31854	
						Years						

Figure 9: Volume of apple exports to various regions of Africa, 2010 - 2019

It is clear from Figure 9 above that West Africa remains the major destination of apples from South Africa accounting for 43% of apple exports destined for Africa in 2019. The West Africa region is followed by SADC (excluding SA) and SACU (excluding SA) bloc at 24% and 16% respectively.

South Africa is ideally situated geographically (in terms of distance) to supply into Africa, compared to other pome fruit producing countries in Europe and elsewhere. The Free Trade Agreement within SACU (Southern Africa Customs Union) also contributes for easy access into Africa, especially with no import tariffs and duties applicable on imports from South Africa. Africa has interests to invest in new infrastructure. The investment in infrastructure available such as roads, cold storage, information systems, is steps in the right direction for the development of such market. The investment and diversification by South African giant supermarkets have undoubtedly contributed to the increased exports into Africa. The volumes of South African apple exports to the different countries during the last decade are depicted in Figure 10 below. It is important to note that only those countries whose apple imports from South Africa were at least 1 000 tons in at least one year during the period under review are shown in Figure 10.

Source: Quantec Easydata

2010 8805 6550	2011	0040							
8805 6550	0420	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019
6550	9136	11108	13077	13480	18454	21173	21117	22259	24732
	6806	7860	10384	11169	15482	18166	17089	17341	18890
7339	8000	9966	11745	9705	10231	11494	10935	10068	1026
588	644	927	1389	1532	2029	1881	1453	1428	1205
33887	46436	68366	79619	72671	89386	79398	77529	72335	8744
4771	8028	13551	11250	6256	7358	9256	8626	7558	7956
431	1826	7857	32361	43624	55395	41121	35949	33590	4176
4144	5405	8779	9692	8074	11038	13342	14942	15263	1877
2007	1720	2481	4572	2437	2088	2845	4863	5018	5777
CU) 35833	49954	55758	58026	56688	58052	54844	51271	50079	4996
9514	16662	21929	19789	16853	12743	8725	10012	8403	6923
4997	5423	5290	5863	5203	6056	6333	6454	5893	5981
2364	2463	2854	5088	5753	5457	6362	7109	8265	9713
6236	7415	8195	10069	12387	14543	14113	11329	10613	1162
10686	15039	13450	12183	12123	13713	13947	10883	10323	9696
A) 87674	380409	192307	28568	29174	32394	34296	33095	31219	3185
70450	360071	177021	8498	8526	11376	13006	12406	11683	1292
13791	13224	8105	11559	10015	9813	9576	9685	8801	9360
2955	6164	5459	5522	7418	6839	6549	6729	6177	5000
	4144 2007 35833 9514 4997 2364 6236 10686 A) 87674 70450 13791 2955	4144 5405 2007 1720 2007 1720 35833 49954 9514 16662 4997 5423 2364 2463 6236 7415 10686 15039 4) 87674 380409 70450 360071 13791 13224 2955 6164	1121 1121 41144 5405 8779 2007 1720 2481 2U) 35833 49954 55758 9514 16662 21929 4997 5423 5290 2364 2463 2854 6236 7415 8195 10686 15039 13450 4) 87674 380409 192307 70450 360071 177021 13791 13224 8105 2955 6164 5459	A144 5405 8779 9692 2007 1720 2481 4572 201 35833 49954 55758 58026 9514 16662 21929 19789 4997 5423 5290 5863 2364 2463 2854 5088 6236 7415 8195 10069 10686 15039 13450 12183 A) 87674 380409 192307 28568 70450 360071 177021 8498 13791 13224 8105 11559 2955 6164 5459 5522	A144 5405 8779 9692 8074 2007 1720 2481 4572 2437 2001 1720 2481 4572 2437 2001 35833 49954 55758 58026 56688 9514 16662 21929 19789 16853 4997 5423 5290 5863 5203 2364 2463 2854 5088 5753 6236 7415 8195 10069 12387 10686 15039 13450 12183 12123 A) 87674 380409 192307 28568 29174 70450 360071 177021 8498 8526 13791 13224 8105 11559 10015 2955 6164 5459 5522 7418	4144 5405 8779 9692 8074 11038 2007 1720 2481 4572 2437 2088 2001 35833 49954 55758 58026 56688 58052 9514 16662 21929 19789 16853 12743 4997 5423 5290 5863 5203 6056 2364 2463 2854 5088 5753 5457 6236 7415 8195 10069 12387 14543 10686 15039 13450 12183 12123 13713 A) 87674 380409 192307 28568 29174 32394 70450 360071 177021 8498 8526 11376 13791 13224 8105 11559 10015 9813 2955 6164 5459 5522 7418 6839	4144 5405 8779 9692 8074 11038 13342 2007 1720 2481 4572 2437 2088 2845 2U) 35833 49954 55758 58026 56688 58052 54844 9514 16662 21929 19789 16853 12743 8725 4997 5423 5290 5863 5203 6056 6333 2364 2463 2854 5088 5753 5457 6362 6236 7415 8195 10069 12387 14543 14113 10686 15039 13450 12183 12123 13713 13947 A) 87674 380409 192307 28568 29174 32394 34296 70450 360071 177021 8498 8526 11376 13006 13791 13224 8105 11559 10015 9813 9576 2955 6164	4144 5405 8779 9692 8074 11038 13342 14942 2007 1720 2481 4572 2437 2088 2845 4863 2U) 35833 49954 55758 58026 56688 58052 54844 51271 9514 16662 21929 19789 16853 12743 8725 10012 4997 5423 5290 5863 5203 6056 6333 6454 2364 2463 2854 5088 5753 5457 6362 7109 6236 7415 8195 10069 12387 14543 14113 11329 10686 15039 13450 12183 12123 13713 13947 10883 A) 87674 380409 192307 28568 29174 32394 34296 33095 70450 360071 177021 8498 8526 11376 13006 12406 <	4144 5405 8779 9692 8074 11038 13342 14942 15263 2007 1720 2481 4572 2437 2088 2845 4863 5018 2U) 35833 49954 55758 58026 56688 58052 54844 51271 50079 9514 16662 21929 19789 16853 12743 8725 10012 8403 4997 5423 5290 5863 5203 6056 6333 6454 5893 2364 2463 2854 5088 5753 5457 6362 7109 8265 6236 7415 8195 10069 12387 14543 14113 11329 10613 10686 15039 13450 12183 12123 13713 13947 10883 10323 A) 87674 380409 192307 28568 29174 32394 34296 33095 31219 70450 360071 177021 8498 8526 11376 13006

Figure 10: Volume of apple exports to various countries of Western Africa, SADC and SACU regions, 2010 -2019

Source: Quantec Easydata

As it can be seen from the Figure 10 above, within West Africa the major markets for South African apples are Nigeria, Senegal and Ghana while Zambia, Zimbabwe and Botswana are the major markets for South African apples within SADC. During 2019 season, Nigeria accounted for more than half (48%) of total apples exports from South Africa destined to West Africa. Nigeria is followed by Senegal and Ghana at 21% and 9% respectively. Within SADC, Zambia (23%), Mozambique and Zimbabwe (19%) are dominant market for South African apples, all accounting for more than half of apple export to SADC region. In the Southern African Custom Union (SACU), Botswana accounted for % of South African apples and it is anticipated to SACU (excluding SA). Africa is definitely a growing market for South African apples and it is anticipated that the market will still grow. Increased investment into infrastructure and secure financial payment systems will ensure more influx of apples from South Africa.

Volumes of South African apple exports to the different regions of Europe are presented in Figure 11.





Source: Quantec Easydata

As already highlighted, Europe is still the top major destination for South African exports of apples. Within Europe, exports of South African apples are normally distributed between the European Union, Eastern Europe, Northern Europe and Western Europe to a lesser extent. The European Union consists of 25 member states. Eastern Europe comprises Bulgaria, Belarus, Maldova, Romania, Russia and Ukraine while Northern Europe consists of Faeroe Islands, Iceland, and Norway.

Annually (see Figure 11), over 90% of all South African apple exports that goes into Europe go to the European Union member states while the remaining 10% or less goes to the other European regions. The European Union absorbed 85% of the total South African apple exports to Europe in 2019. This clearly indicates the importance of the European Union as a major market for South African apples. Volumes of apple exports to the European Union and other European regions have been declining over the past two years. Between 2018 and 2019 South African apple export volumes to the European Union declined by 22% while those to Eastern Europe declined by 10% during the same period.

Given the relative importance of the European Union to South African apple exports, volumes of South African apple exports to the different European Union member states during the last decade are depicted in Figure 12. It is important to note that only those countries whose apple imports from South Africa were at least 1 000 tons in at least one year during the period under review are shown in Figure 12.





Source: Quantec Easydata

As can be seen in Figure 12 the major importers of South African apples in the European Union are the United Kingdom and Netherlands. In 2019 the United Kingdom accounted for 71% (65 186 tons) of all South African exports of apples to the European Union while the Netherlands accounted for 16% during the same year. There was a 22% decrease in exports to the United Kingdom between 2017 and 2018. Exports to the UK peaked at 153 104 tons in 2017 while those to the Netherlands peaked at 33 368 tons in 2013. South African exports of apples to the Netherlands declined by 30% between 2017 and 2019.

Other important markets for South African apples are found in the Asian continent. Volumes of South African exports of apples to the different regions in Asia are presented in Figure 13.

Aolume 180000 160000 140000 120000 120000 80000 60000 40000 20000		+							~	\checkmark	
0	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019
Asia	97008	87113	89427	102938	116020	101443	125686	146016	148421	117113	153989
Eastern Asia	4924	5627	3836	6085	8792	7122	10252	17007	16614	11957	22092
Hong Kong, China	2428	2662	2139	2711	2536	1669	2657	2349	2836	2925	6229
Taiwan Province of China	2495	2943	1697	3374	6212	5390	7128	13495	12344	5982	5736
South-central Asia	12298	8424	12360	12292	10522	12224	20562	30680	42020	32568	49100
Bangladesh	8945	6745	8851	10766	8369	10276	17778	25082	35068	23825	40293
Sri Lanka	609	220	778	293	523	615	831	2745	3533	3790	4526
South-eastern Asia	52390	48875	49702	55196	61368	57334	67475	64140	60828	51042	54755
Indonesia	286	882	1225	1718	1207	550	312	685	1339	520	1327
Malaysia	39309	36643	38132	41024	46450	43776	53651	51290	48422	37646	41093
Singapore	11925	10363	9811	11575	12549	12084	12745	11378	10385	10715	9759
Vietnam	21	152	196	204	360	228	224	617	599	1960	2511
Western Asia	27397	24187	23529	29365	35338	24763	27396	34188	28960	21547	28042
	18461	15473	14995	19285	23947	16227	19360	23207	18633	12790	14893
Bahrain	504	166	414	705	484	491	1036	1817	926	381	738
Kuwait	272	646	627	567	557	108	575	394	601	493	1240
Oman	2714	2637	2315	3375	3555	3619	3816	3959	5019	3394	3939
Saudi Arabia	4735	4833	4825	5065	6324	4170	2537	4661	3467	2961	5530
						Years					

Figure 13: Volume of apple exports to Asia, 2010 - 2019

Source: Quantec Easydata

South African exports of apples into Asia have been increasing during the last decade and only declined significantly in 2014 and 2018. In 2019, a total of 153 989 tons of apples were exported by South Africa to Asia. As can be seen in Figure 13 exports to Asia increased from 87 113 in 2010 to 153 989 tons in 2019. This represents an increase of 76% over ten years. There was however a 10% decline in exports to Asia between 2013 and 2014; and between 2017 and 2018. Exports however recovered and rose by 23% and 21% between 2010/11 and 2014/15 and 2017/.18 seasons respectively. Within Asia, the majority of South African apple exports go to South-eastern Asia (36% in 2019). Exports to South–eastern Asia went up by 30% between 2018 and 2019. South-central Asia and Western Asia represented 32% (49 100 tons) and 18% (28 042 tons), respectively of all South African apple exports to Asia in 2019.

2.2.2 Imports

In 2019, South Africa's imports of apples were insignificant in world terms and its ranking in the world was number 171. Volumes of apples imported by South Africa from different regions of the world during the last

decade are presented in Figure 14. It is evident from Figure 14 that South Africa imports less apples than it exports, resulting in trade surpluses in favour of South Africa. The imports of apples by South Africa have been decreasing during the past two years. Imports increased from 21 tons in 2014 to 551 tons in 2017, an increase of 2 581%. Import of apples mainly originates from Netherland and SADC countries.





2.3 Provincial and district export values of South African apples

Figure 14 depicts the value of apple exports from each province of the Republic of South Africa during the period 2010 to 2019. All provinces recorded apple exports worth R5.3 billion in 2019. This was up from the R5.1 billion recorded in 2018.

Source: Quantec Easydata/ITC

	6000000										
	5000000										-
	4000000										
	3000000										
(00	2000000										
(R'0	1000000										
lue	0	~	~	~	~	~					
Val	U	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019
	RSA	1980247	2249430	2736940	4281869	3838092	4861207	5273514	4980738	5106109	5396956
ĺ		1617139	1895950	2378983	3809067	3276874	4153348	4450305	4191806	4315829	4559571
ĺ	Eastern Cape	26801	19989	20620	15286	25640	24430	16903	8403	7387	6410
ĺ		731	437	1323	1523	4093	2	80	652	68	157
		546	574	2895	4450	13418	24076	26547	24754	18990	19006
	KwaZulu-Natal	28175	22686	30138	30456	44541	146914	136546	154180	153969	176340
ĺ	North West	0	0	0	0	542	15243	28994	32232	34236	6822
	Gauteng	303883	306786	294781	413702	455381	467250	566385	531117	540695	578474
	Mpumalanga	3	1	389	2425	4437	12821	26315	20779	25376	29736
	Limpopo	2970	3006	7812	4960	13166	17122	21439	16814	9559	20441
						Ye	ars				

Figure 15: Value of apple exports by provinces, 2010 - 2019

Source: Quantec Easydata

The Western Cape is the leading apple-exporting province in South Africa. Gauteng province also recorded significant values of apple exports during the past ten years. In 2019, the Western Cape accounted for about 84 percent of total South African apple exports while Gauteng accounted for about 11 percent. The remaining 5 percent was shared among the remaining provinces. Apple exports from the Western Cape increased by 6% between 2018 and 2019 while those from Gauteng also went up by 7% during the same period. The following Figures (Figures 16 - 24) show the value of apple exports from the various districts in the nine provinces of South Africa. Figure 15 illustrates values of apple exports by the Western Cape province.



Figure 16: Value of apple exports by the Western Cape province, 2010 - 2019

It is clear from Figure 16 that exports of apples from the Western Cape Province are mainly from the City of Cape Town, Cape Winelands, Overberg and West Coast municipalities. The Western Cape exported apples worth R4.5 billion during 2019. High export values for the leading municipalities were recorded in 2019 for the City of Cape Town and 2016 for the Cape Winelands. Between 2018 and 2019 apple exports by the City of Cape Town increased by 3% while Cape Winelands also went up by 19% during the same period. The use of the Cape Town harbour as an exit point may have played a major role in the City of Cape Town being a leader in the export of apples from the Western Cape province. Generally there have been substantial increases in the value of apple exports from the City of Cape Town and Cape Winelands since 2008. Values have however declined in 2014 and 2017 seasons. Values of apple exports from the Gauteng province are shown in Figure 17.

Source: Quantec Easydata



Figure 17: Value of apple exports from Gauteng province, 2010 -2019

Source: Quantec Easydata

In Gauteng province, there has been significant increase on the apple export values for the past ten years (see Figure 17). Apples worth over R578 million were exported by Gauteng in 2019. This was up from the R540 million value recorded in 2018. The leading role players are City of Johannesburg, City of Tshwane and Ekurhuleni Metropolitan Municipalities. High export values of the leading municipalities were recorded in 2019 for City of Johannesburg, 2018 for Ekurhuleni and 2015 for City of Tshwane. The value of apple exports has been unstable for the Ekurhuleni Metropolitan Municipality over the past decade. At the same time, the value of apple exports has been on a steady increase for the City of Johannesburg since 2009 before slight decline in 2011 and increasing again between 2010 and 2014, however, export for City of Johannesburg declined by 12% in 2015 before increasing in 2016. Apple export values from the West Rand increased by over 1 thousand percent between 2010 and 2015. Values of apple exports from the Kwazulu Natal province are presented in Figure 18.

Alue (R.000) 180000 160000 140000 120000 120000 100000 80000 60000						P				
40000 20000	~							_	_	
0	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019
KwaZulu-Natal	28175	22686	30138	30456	44541	146914	136546	154180	153969	176340
-B	2291	9562	12918	14125	11340	22208	9657	2554	2402	244
	140	0	0	0	10413	16205	0	65	86	0
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	0	0	0	0	0	33	34	173	295	1247
Sisonke	0	0	0	0	0	107	0	0	1	36
eThekwini	25743	13124	17220	16331	22782	108358	126854	151388	151182	173906

Figure 18: Value of apple exports from Kwazulu Natal province, 2010 - 2019

Source: Quantec Easydata

Apples worth over R176 million were exported by KwaZulu Natal during 2019 and this was up from over R153 million that was recorded in 2018. Apple exports from KwaZulu Natal province are mainly from the eThekwini Metropolitan Municipality. High export values for the leading municipality were recorded in 2019. The value of exports from the eThekwini has been on the rise since 2012. The municipality however recorded a decline of 7% in 2016. Between 2016 and 2017, the municipality recorded an increase of 19%. Another significant player in the exports of apples from KwaZulu Natal in 2019 was the Zululand district, which recorded apple exports to the value of over R1.2 million. The use of the Durban harbour as an exit point may have played a major role in EThekwini being a leader in the export of apples from the KwaZulu Natal province. Values of apple exports from the Eastern Cape province are shown in Figure 19.





Source: Quantec Easydata

The Eastern Cape reported apple exports worth over R6.4 million in 2019. This represented a 13% decrease from the export value reported by the same province in 2018. It can be observed in Figure 19 that apple exports from the Eastern Cape province are mainly from Nelson Mandela and Cacadu to a lesser extent. High export values for the leading municipalities were recorded in 2010 (for Nelson Mandela and for Cacadu). Apple exports from the Nelson Mandela municipality declined by 13% between 2018 and 2019 while Cacadu increased by 100% during the same period after no export were reported during 2018. The value of apple exports from the Cacadu district have been declining since 2010, remaining below R2 000 000.00 annually in the past ten years. The use of the Port Elizabeth harbour as an exit point may have played a major role in Nelson Mandela Metropolitan Municipality being the leader in apple exports from the Eastern Cape province by the Free State province are depicted in Figure 20.

30000 25000 20000 15000												
00001 alle						Ж	*		~			
> 5000												
0	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019		
Free State	546	574	2895	4450	13418	24076	26547	24754	18988	19006		
Xhariep	0	0	1275	2350	5663	3756	2787	7120	6222	8065		
Lejweleputswa	0	0	76	0	339	2637	1312	2131	7645	1066		
	546	574	1544	1569	4373	9976	11996	10550	3498	9660		
Fezile Dabi	0	0	0	531	1108	1614	790	0	0	0		
Mangaung	0	0	0	0	1935	6093	9662	4953	1622	215		
					Yea	ars						

Figure 20: Value of apple exports by Free State province, 2010 - 2019

Source: Quantec Easydata

Apples worth R19 million were exported by the Free State province in 2019 and the export value was 0.1% less than that reported in 2018. Exports of apples in the Free State Province are mainly from Thabo Mofutsanyane and Mangaung, Xhariep District Municipalities (see Figure 20). During 2019, Thabo Mofutsanyane and Xhariep recorded R9.6 million and R8 million respectively. The value of apple exports from the Thabo Mofutsanyane and Xhariep district increased by 176% and 30% between 2018 and 2019. Values of apple exports from the Northern Cape province are presented in Figure 21.



Figure 21: Value of apple exports by Northern Cape province, 2010 - 2019

Source: Quantec Easydata

Figure 21 shows that apples worth R157 thousand were exported by the Northern Cape in 2019. The export value was 136% high than the value reported in 2018 (R68 000). Apple exports from the Northern

Cape Province are mainly from the Namakwa and Siyanda District Municipalities. The Pixley ka Seme district Municipality also recorded apple exports in the past ten years. Apple export from Northern Cape has been unstable during the past ten years. Values of apple exports from the Limpopo province are shown in Figure 22.



Figure 22: Value of apple exports by Limpopo province, 2010 - 2019

Source: Quantec Easydata

The Limpopo province reported apple exports worth over R20 million in 2019 and the export value represented a 114% decrease in the value reported in 2018. Exports of apples from the Limpopo Province are mainly from Vhembe and Sekhukhune District Municipalities (see Figure 22). All other districts recorded apple exports over the past three seasons even though the values were insignificant when compared to Mopani. Values of exports from the North West province are shown in Figure 23.

40000										
35000										
30000									-+	
<u> </u>										
2 20000										
1 5000										\frown
> 10000						/				
5000									_	
0	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019
North West	0	0	0	0	542	15243	28994	32232	34236	6822
-Bojanala	0	0	0	0	542	15240	27672	32095	34089	6466
Ngaka Modiri Molema	0	0	0	0	0	3	121	137	145	356
Dr Ruth Segomotsi Mompati	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	0	0	0	0	0	0	1201	1	3	0
					Ye	ars				

Figure 23: Value of apple exports by North West province, 2010 - 2019

Source: Quantec Easydata

According to Figure 22, apples worth R6 million were reported by the North West province in 2019. Values of apple exports from Mpumalanga province are depicted in Figure 24.





Source: Quantec Easydata

It is clear from Figure 24 that in 2019 apple exports from Mpumalanga province were mainly from the Ehlanzeni and Gert Sibande district municipality. Over the past two years, Nkangala has emerged as the notable apple export region with apples worth R6.4 million. High export value for the leading district municipality was recorded in 2015 for Gert Sibande, 2016 for both Ehlanzeni and 2019 for Nkangala District. Generally the province registers minimal trade in apple exports.

2.4 Share Analysis

Table 2 is an illustration of provincial shares towards national apple exports. It shows that Western Cape and Gauteng to a lesser extend have commanded the greatest share of apple exports for the past ten years. In 2019, the Western Cape accounted for 84.5% of all South African exports of apples while Gauteng contributed 10.7%. The two leading provinces cumulatively accounted for 95% of total value of apples exported in 2019. This is in spite of the fact that Western Cape and the Eastern Cape Province are the leading producers of apples. As explained earlier, this means that the leading export province like Western Cape derive the advantage from its huge production base and from the fact that the registered exporters are based in the Western Cape and that the province has exit points for apple exports.

							• •	,		
Years Province	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019
RSA	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
Western Cape	81.0	83.6	86.4	88.5	86.5	85.4	84.4	84.1	84.5	84.5
Eastern Cape	1.4	0.9	0.8	0.4	0.7	0.5	0.3	0.2	0.1	0.1
Northern Cape	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Free State	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.6	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.4	0.4
Kwazulu-Natal	1.4	1.0	1.1	0.7	1.2	3.0	2.6	3.1	3.0	3.3
North West	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.3	0.6	0.6	0.7	0.1
Gauteng	16.2	14.3	11.3	10.1	10.4	9.6	10.7	10.6	10.6	10.7
Mpumalanga	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.2	0.3	0.5	0.4	0.5	0.6
Limpopo	0.2	0.1	0.3	0.1	0.3	0.4	0.4	0.3	0.2	0.4

Table 2: Share of	provincial apple ex	ports to the total RSA a	apple exports (%)
-------------------	---------------------	--------------------------	-------------------

Source: Calculated from Quantec Easydata

The accompanying tables (Tables 3 to 11) show shares of the various districts' apple exports to the various provincial apple exports.

Table 3: Share of district a	ople exports to the total Westerr	n Cape provincial apple exports (%)

										/
Years	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019
District										
Western Cape	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
City of Cape Town	62.6	62.6	62.8	59.1	57.5	57.2	57.7	64.8	61.9	60.3
West Coast	0.3	0.5	0.3	0.3	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.2
Cape Winelands	27.8	27.2	27.9	30.8	31.2	31.9	32.1	24.9	27.1	30.5
Overberg	7.8	8.0	7.8	8.8	9.9	9.6	9.4	10.0	10.8	9.0
Eden District	1.5	1.8	1.1	1.0	1.3	1.1	0.7	0.0	0.0	0.0

Source: Calculated from Quantec Easydata

Table 3 presents the shares of district apple exports to the total Western Cape provincial apple exports for the years 2010 to 2019. The leading apple export districts in the Western Cape in 2019 are the City of Cape Town (60.3%), the Cape Winelands (30.5%) and Overberg (9%). Together, the three districts accounted for over 99.8% to the total Western Cape provincial apple exports in 2019. The West Coast contributed 0.2% during the same year.

Years	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019
District										
Eastern Cape	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
Cacadu	5.8	4.1	1.4	0.0	1.1	0.0	5.6	2.6	0.0	2.3
Alfred Nzo	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0
O.R.Tambo	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	2.3	1.5	0.6
Nelson Mandela	94.2	95.9	98.6	100.0	98.9	100.0	94.3	94.7	98.5	97.1

Table 4: Share of district apple exports to the total Eastern Cape provincial apple exports (%)

Source: Calculated from Quantec Easydata

The shares of district apple exports to the total Eastern Cape provincial apple exports are presented in Table 4. The Nelson Mandela district is the leading municipality in terms of apple exports for the Eastern Cape, accounting for almost all (97.1%) of total apple exports from the Eastern Cape in 2019 with the remaining coming from Cacadu and O.R Tambo District. No apple exports were reported by the Amatole and Alfred Nzo districts in the last four years.

Table 5: Share of district apple exports to the total Mpumalanga provincial apple exports (%)

Years	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019
District										
Mpumalanga	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
Gert Sibande	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	8.6.	14.7	2.8	1.6	2.5	2.6
Nkangala	100	0	0	0	9	0.2	6.3	30.3	21.3	21.7
Ehlanzeni	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	91.4	85.1	90.9	68.0	76.2	75.7

Source: Calculated from Quantec Easydata

In 2019 most (75.7%) recorded exports of apples in Mpumalanga province were from the Ehlanzeni District Municipality, the remaining 32% came from Nkangala and Gert Sibande (see Table 5).

Table 6: Share of district apple exports to the total Free State provincial apple exports (%)

		n appie e	Apolio il			uic pi 0 11	noiui upp	ne exper	13 (/0)	
Years	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019
District										
Free State	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
Xhariep	0.0	0.0	44.1	52.8	24.3	15.6	10.5	28.7	32.8	42.4
Lejweleputswa	0.0	0.0	2.6	0.0	0.0	11.0	4.9	8.6	40.3	5.6
Thabo Mofutsanyane	100.0	100.0	53.3	35.3	40.0	41.4	45.2	42.6	18.4	50.8
Fezile Dabi	0.0	0.0	0.0	11.9	4.7	6.7	0.3	0.0	0.0	0.0

Years	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019
District										
Mangaung	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	26.7	25.3	36.4	20.0	8.5	1.1

Source: Calculated from Quantec Easydata

In 2019 exports of apples in the Free State province were mainly from the Thabo Mofutsanyane, Mangaung and Xhariep District Municipality (see Table 6).

Table 7: Share of distric	t apple exports to the	total Gauteng provincia	al apple exports (%)

Years	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019
District										
Gauteng	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	2018	2019
West Rand	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.5	1.2	0.9	0.7	0.9	0.0	0.0
Ekurhuleni	4.5	5.5	1.3	2.2	8.1	8.1	7.3	7.7	12.1	10.5
City of Johannesburg	84.5	82.8	87.7	86.1	69.3	69.7	75.4	79.0	78.7	76.7
City of Tshwane	11.1	11.7	10.9	11.2	21.4	21.4	16.8	13.1	9.2	12.8

Source: Calculated from Quantec Easydata

The shares of district apple exports to the total Gauteng provincial apple exports are presented in Table 7. In 2019, the City of Johannesburg contributed 76.7% to total Gauteng provincial apple exports. The City of Johannesburg was followed by the City of Tshwane at 12.8% and the Ekurhuleni at 10.5%.

Table 8: Share of district apple exports to the total North West provincial apple exports (%)
---	----

									(10)	
Years	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019
District										
North West	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
Bojanala	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	100.0	99.9	95.4	99.5	99.6	94.8
Ngaka Modiri	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.4	0.4	0.4	5.2
Molema										
Dr Kenneth	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	4.2	0.0	0.0	0.0
Kaunda										

Source: Calculated from Quantec Easydata

In 2019, almost all (94.8%) recorded exports of apples in the North West province were from the Bojanala district (see Table 8).

Table 9: Share of dist	trict apple exports to	the total Limpopo	nrovincial annle ex	norts (%)

Years	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019
District										
Limpopo	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
Mopani	88.7	86.5	91.4	86.7	71.8	81.1	53.1	66.1	0.0	0.0
Vhembe	4.9	9.6	5.3	7.5	2.5	0.9	0.9	1.0	0.6	54.2
Capricorn	6.4	3.9	3.3	1.0	1.5	4.0	2.5	0.5	0.9	0.0
Waterberg	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	4.9	5.3	1.3	1.2	30.9	0.4
Sekhukhune	0.0	0.0	0.0	4.8	18.5	8.8	42.2	31.0	67.6	45.4

Source: Calculated from Quantec Easydata

The shares of district apple exports to the total Limpopo provincial apple exports are presented in Table 9. In 2019, the Vhembe district contributed over half (54.2%) to total Limpopo provincial apple exports. The Vhembe district was followed by the Sekhukhune district at 45.4% respectively.

Years District	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019
Northern Cape	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
Pixley ka Seme	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	11.0	32.5	10.9
Siyanda	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	99.4	100.0	0.8	88.9	0.0	0.0
Namakwa	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.6	0.0	99.2	0.0	67.5	89.1

Table 10: Share of district apple exports to the total Northern Cape provincial apple exports (%)

Source: Calculated from Quantec Easydata

In 2019, almost all (89.1%) exports of apples recorded in the Northern Cape province were from the Namakwa district (see Table 10).

Table The online of district apple exports to the total readult Natal provincial apple exports (70)										
Years	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019
District										
Kwazulu-Natal	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0
Ugu	8.1	42.1	42.8	46.2	25.3	15.1	7.1	1.6	1.6	0.1
Umgungundlovu	0.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	23.3	11.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.0
iLembe	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
eThekwini	91.4	57.9	57.2	53.6	51.4	73.7	92.9	98.1	98.2	98.6

Table 11: Share of district apple exports to the total KwaZulu Natal provincial apple exports (%)

Source: Calculated from Quantec Easydata

Table 11 presents the shares of district apple exports to the total KwaZulu Natal provincial apple exports for the years 2010 to 2019. The EThekwini district is the leading municipality in terms of apple exports from KwaZulu Natal, accounting for 98.6% of total provincial apple exports in 2019.

2.5 Processing

Volumes of apples purchased for processing in South Africa during the last ten years are presented in Figure 25.



Figure 25: Apple purchased for processing, 2009/10 – 2018/19

The quantity of apples available for sale in a given production season depends on the volume of exports as well as volumes sold in the local markets. Figure 25 indicates that the volume of apples purchased for processing increased by 11% during the past season. The increase happens at the same time when the volume in the local markets increased (see Figure 6). Figure 25 also shows that prices for apples purchased for processing are responsive to supply and demand principle as have increased during 2016/17 season when supply of processed apples declined.

Virtually all processed apples are subject to post-harvest activities that change their chemical and physical characteristics. These include sorting, cleaning, dividing the commodity into its main component parts, heating, cooling, freezing, soaking, fermenting, compressing, and cutting, shredding, waxing, combing and polishing.

Apples can be canned, juiced and optionally fermented to produce apple juice, cider, vinegar and pectin. Distilled apple cider produces the spirits. Apple wine can also be made. They make a popular lunchbox as well. Apples are an important ingredient in many winter desserts, for example apple pie, apple crumble, apple crisp and apple cake. They are often eaten baked or stewed, and they can also be dried and eaten or re-constituted (soaked in water, alcohol or some other liquid) for later use. Pureed apples are generally known as apple sauce. Apples are also made into apple butter and apple jelly. They are also used cooked in meat dishes.

In the United Kingdom, a toffee apple is a traditional confection made by coating an apple in hot toffee and allowing it to cool. Similar treats in the USA are candy apples (coated in a hard shell of crystallized sugar syrup), and caramel apples, coated with cooled caramel. Apples are eaten with honey at the Jewish New Year of Rosh Hashanah to symbolize a sweet new year.

The hard wood is used for turnery, canes and pipes. Apples are a good detergent food for cleaning teeth. The oil from the seeds is used for cooking and illumination.

Source: Statistics and Economic Analysis, DAFF

3. MARKET INTELLIGENCE

3.1 Competitiveness of South African apple exports

Competitiveness is described as an industry's capacity to create superior value for its customers and improved profits for the stakeholders in the value chain. The driving force in sustaining a competitive position is productivity that is output efficiency in relation to specific inputs with regard to human, capital and natural resources. The average distance of importing countries is 7043 km. In 2019 South African apple exports represented 5.3% of world exports and its ranking in world apple exports was number 7.

As depicted in Figure 26 below, South African apple exports are growing faster than the world imports in China, Netherlands, Botswana, Cote d'Ivoire, Russia, Bangladesh and Hong Kong, China markets. South Africa's performance in these markets can be regarded as gains in dynamic markets.

South African apple exports are growing while the world imports are declining the Nigeria, UAE and Zambia. South Africa's performance in these markets can be regarded as gains in declining markets and should be viewed as an achievement in adversity.

At the same time, South African apple exports have declined faster than the world imports in the United Kingdom, Singapore Angola and Ghananian markets. South Africa's performance in this market can be regarded as a loss in a declining market.

South African apple exports are declining while the world imports are growing in Senegal, Kenya and Malaysian markets. These markets are dynamic and South African performance should be regarded as an underachievement.

Figure 26: Growth in demand for the South African apples in 2019



Growth in demand for a product exported by South Africa in 2019 Product : 080810 Fresh apples

Source: TradeMap, ITC

Figure 27 below illustrates prospects for market diversification by South African apple exporters. The United Kingdom, Malaysia, Bangladesh and Nigeria held a bigger market share of South African apple exports in 2017. Approximately 16% of South Africa's total exports of apples were destined for the UK in 2019.

In terms of market size, the Germany was the largest apple market in 2019 with just over \$494 million (618 616 tons) worth of apple imports, or roughly 6.5% of the world apple market. Second was United Kingdom with just over \$424 million (342 098 tons) worth of apple imports, or roughly 5.6% market share followed by the Egypt with just over \$410 million (705 553 tons) worth of apple imports, or roughly 5.4% market share and theRussia with just over \$393 million (700 544 tons) worth of apple imports, or roughly 5.2% market share.

Whilst four countries dominate world apple imports, it is interesting to note that countries like Somalia together with Burkina Faso and Japan have experienced higher annual growth rate from 2015 – 2019 in value terms (see Figure 26). Somalia experienced an annual growth rate of just under 48%. Second was Burkina Faso with 46% annual growth rate. Burkina Faso is followed by Japan at around 45% annual growth rates. It is important to note that growth by all the mentioned countries has been from a high base. These countries represent possible lucrative markets for South African apple producers and exporters.

It is also important to note that imports of apples from the world to countries such as the Zimbabwe, France and Benin declined from 2015 – 2019 and as a result those countries has recorded a negative growth rate.

Figure 27: South African apples' prospects for market diversification in 2019



Prospects for market diversification for a product exported by South Africa in 2019 Product : 080810 Fresh apples

Source: TradeMap, ITC

3.2 South Africa vs. Southern hemisphere production

Figure 28 represents southern hemisphere production of apples. Approximately 5 180 483 tons of apples were produced in the southern hemisphere during 2018. It is clear that South Africa was the third largest producer (16% in 2018) of apples in the southern hemisphere after Chile and Brazil. Production in most of the southern hemisphere countries has been fairly stable over the past ten years with exception to Chile. Apple production in the southern hemisphere remained fairly stable over the past decade. The total volume of production for southern hemisphere countries declined between 2017 and 2018 with the exception of Uruguay.





The fact that a country can produce a large output does not necessarily mean it will be a big net exporter as this depends on the size of the domestic market and whether excess produce is harvested. In the case of Brazil, the second largest producer of apples in the southern hemisphere, the domestic market is so large that the country exports relatively little. Brazil contributed 3.1% to the total southern hemisphere apple exports in 2019, as can been seen in Table 12 below.

3.3 South Africa vs. Southern hemisphere exports in 2019

It can be observed from Table 12 that South Africa was the second largest exporter (25.8%) of apples in the southern hemisphere after Chile 2019. It was followed by New Zealand and Argentina at 24% and 6.1% respectively.

Source: FAOSTAT

Country	Export - Quantity in Metric Tons (MT)	Contribution to Southern Hemisphere Exports (%)
World exports	8 408 970	
Southern Hemisphere	1 795 104	100.00
Chile	725 765	40.3
Argentina	111 060	6.1
Brazil	56 713	3.1
South Africa	464 388	25.8
New Zealand	432 194	24.0
Australia	4 251	0.24

|--|

Source: TradeMap, ITC

South Africa's main competitors from the southern hemisphere in the EU market for apple exports are New Zealand and Argentina. Argentina exports primarily within the South American markets (particularly Brazil), EU countries (mainly Netherlands and Germany) and the rest of European countries such as Russia. New Zealand exports apples primarily to the EU countries (mainly Netherlands and UK), North America (particularly USA) and Far East (mainly Hong Kong and Taiwan). Chile have recently increased its exports to EU (Netherlands and United Kingdom) and Far East (Taiwan and China), diverting from their traditional market USA.

Australia produces primarily for local markets and exports very little (0.24%) of total southern hemisphere exports in 2019). All the major apple exporting countries in the Southern hemisphere are now shifting their focus to Asia due to falling incomes in Europe. In case of South Africa, recently volumes into African markets are rising.

4. MARKET ACCESS

Barriers to trade can be divided into tariff barriers (including quotas, ad valorem tariffs, specific tariffs and entry price systems) and non-tariff barriers (sanitary and phytosanitary measures, labels, etc.). The main markets for fruit (including apple) employ various measures, both tariff and non-tariff to protect the domestic industries. Whilst many of the non-tariff measures can be justified under the auspices of issues such as health and standards, the tariff measures are increasingly under the scrutiny of the World Trade Organization (WTO), and as such are gradually being phased out. Nevertheless, exporters need to be aware of all the barriers that they may encounter when trying to get their produce on foreign shelves.

4.1 Tariffs, quotas and the price entry system

Tariffs are either designed to earn government revenue from products being imported or to raise the price of imports so as to render local produce more competitive and protect domestic industries.

Quotas can be used to protect domestic industries from excessive imports originating from areas with some form of competitive advantage (which can therefore produce lower cost produce). Tariffs and quotas are often combined, allowing the imports to enter at a certain tariff rate up to a specified quantity. Thereafter, imports from that particular region will attract higher tariffs, or will not be allowed at all. This phenomenon is referred to as tariff-rate quotas (TRQs).

The entry price system, which is used in many northern hemisphere markets, makes use of multiple tariff rates during different periods when domestic producers are trying to sell their produce, and lower the tariffs during their off-season. Alternatively, the tariff rate can be a function of a market price – if the produce enters at a price which is too low (and therefore likely to be too competitive), it qualifies for a higher tariff schedule.

Whilst tariff regulations can be prohibitive and result in inferior market access, it is often the non-tariff barriers that restrict countries like South from successfully entering the large developed markets. Many of these barriers revolve around different types of standards, including sanitary and phytosanitary standards (SPS), food health and safety issues, food labelling and packaging, organic produce certification, quality assurance and other standards and grades. Table 13 presents tariffs applied by top-ten export markets to apples originating from South Africa during 2019. It is important to note that two European Union (EU) member states (United Kingdom and Netherlands) were in the top-ten list. Tariffs applied by these countries are therefore reported together as EU tariffs and not individually.

COUNTRY	HS CODE	PRODUCT DESCRIPTION	TRADE REGIME	APPLIED TARIFFS	TOTAL AD VALOREM EQUIVALENT TARIFF
	0808101000	Apples, pears and quinces, fresh: Apples: Cider apples, in bulk, from 16 September to 15 December	MFN duties (Applied)	0.00%	0.00%
European Union	080810801001	Fresh apples (excl. cider apples, in bulk, from 16 September to 15 December): Cider apples. If the declared price is higher than or equal to 56.8 EUR/100 kg	MFN duties (Applied)	0.00%	0.00%
	080810801002	Fresh apples (excl. cider apples, in bulk, from 16 September to 15 December): Cider apples. If the declared price is higher than or equal to 55.7 EUR/100 kg	MFN duties (Applied)	OQTR: 3.00%+11. 78\$/Ton / IQTR: 11.78\$/Ton	OQTR: 3.00%+11.78\$/ Ton / IQTR: 11.78\$/Ton
	080810801003	Fresh apples (excl. cider	MFN duties	OQTR:	OQTR: 4.87%/

Table 13:	Tariffs applied b	y various export	markets to apple	s (fresh) ori	ginating from S	South Africa,
2019						

COUNTRY	HS CODE	PRODUCT DESCRIPTION	TRADE REGIME	APPLIED TARIFFS	TOTAL AD VALOREM EQUIVALENT TARIFF
		apples, in bulk, from 16 September to 15 December): Cider apples. If the declared price is higher than or equal to 54.5 EUR/100 kg	(Applied)	3.00%+24. 63\$/Ton / IQTR: 24.63\$/Ton	IQTR: 1.87
	080810801004	Fresh apples (excl. cider apples, in bulk, from 16 September to 15 December): Cider apples. If the declared price is higher than or equal to 53.4 EUR/100 kg	MFN duties (Applied)	OQTR: 3.00%+36. 40\$/Ton / IQTR: 36.40\$/Ton	OQTR: 5.76%/ IQTR: 2.76%
	080810801005	Fresh apples (excl. cider apples, in bulk, from 16 September to 15 December): Cider apples. If the declared price is higher than or equal to 52.3 EUR/100 kg	MFN duties (Applied)	OQTR: 3.00%+48. 18\$/Ton / IQTR: 48.18\$/Ton	OQTR: 6.66%/ IQTR: 3.66%
	080810801006	Fresh apples (excl. cider apples, in bulk, from 16 September to 15 December): Cider apples. If the declared price is higher than or equal to 0 EUR/100 kg	MFN duties (Applied)	OQTR: 3.00%+61. 03\$/Ton / IQTR:61.03 \$/Ton	OQTR: 7.63%/ IQTR: 4.63%
	080810809001	Fresh apples (excl. cider apples, in bulk, from 16 September to 15 December): Other. If the declared price is higher than or equal to 56.8 EUR/100 kg	MFN duties (Applied)	0.00%	0.00%
	080810809002	Fresh apples (excl. cider apples, in bulk, from 16 September to 15 December): Other. If the declared price is higher than or equal to 55.7 EUR/100 kg	MFN duties (Applied)	OQTR: 3.00%+11. 78\$/Ton / IQTR: 11.78\$/Ton	OQTR: 3.89%/ IQTR: 0.89%
	080810809003	Fresh apples (excl. cider apples, in bulk, from 16 September to 15 December): Other. If the declared price is higher than or equal to 54.5 EUR/100 kg	MFN duties (Applied)	OQTR: 3.00%+24. 63\$/Ton / IQTR: 24.63\$/Ton	OQTR: 4.87%/ IQTR: 1.87%
	080810809004	Fresh apples (excl. cider apples, in bulk, from 16 September to 15 December): Other. If the declared price is higher than or equal to 53.4	MFN duties (Applied)	OQTR: 3.00%+36. 40\$/Ton / IQTR: 36.40\$/Ton	OQTR: 5.76%/ IQTR: 2.76%

COUNTRY	HS CODE	PRODUCT DESCRIPTION	TRADE REGIME	APPLIED TARIFFS	TOTAL AD VALOREM EQUIVALENT TARIFF
		EUR/100 kg			
	080810809005	Fresh apples (excl. cider apples, in bulk, from 16 September to 15 December): Other. If the declared price is higher than or equal to 52.3 EUR/100 kg	MFN duties (Applied)	OQTR: 3.00%+48. 18\$/Ton / IQTR: 48.18\$/Ton	OQTR: 6.66%/ IQTR: 3.66%
	080810809006	Fresh apples (excl. cider apples, in bulk, from 16 September to 15 December): Other. If the declared price is higher than or equal to 0 EUR/100 kg	MFN duties (Applied)	OQTR: 3.00%+61. 03\$/Ton / IQTR:61.03 \$/Ton	OQTR: 7.63%/ IQTR: 4.63%
Malaysia	08081000	Fresh apples	MFN duties (Applied)	5.00%	5.00%
Kenya	0808100000	Apples, pears and quinces, fresh: Apples	MFN duties (Applied)	25.00%	25.00%
Angola	08081000	Maçãs, frescas	MFN duties (Applied)	50.00%	50.00%
United Arab Emirates	08081000	Apples, pears and quinces, fresh: Apples	MFN duties (Applied)	0.00%	0.00%
Singapore	08081000	APPLES FRESH (TNE)	MFN duties (Applied)	0.00%	0.00%
			MFN duties (Applied)	40.00%	40.00%
Zimbabwe	08081000	Fresh apples	Preferential tariff (SADC) for South Africa	15.00%	15.00%
			Preferential tariff for South Africa	0.00%	0.00%
Ghana	0808100000	Fresh apples	MFN duties (Applied)	20.00%	20.00%
Bangladosh	08081010	Apples, fresh, wrapped/canned up to 2.5kg	MFN duties (Applied)	25.00%	25.00%
Daligiadesii	08081020	Apples, fresh, nes	MFN duties (Applied)	25.00%	25.00%
		Apples, pears and quinces.	MFN duties (Applied)	0.06 € per kg	8.26%
Russia	0808101000	fresh: Apples: No description at level 10	Preferential tariff for GSP countries	75%	6.19%
russia	0808108001	Apples, pears and quinces, fresh: Apples: No description at level 10	Preferential tariff for GSP countries	75%	3.42%

COUNTRY	HS CODE	PRODUCT DESCRIPTION	TRADE REGIME	APPLIED TARIFFS	TOTAL AD VALOREM EQUIVALENT TARIFF
			MFN duties (Applied)	0.03 € per kg	3.42%
	0808108002	Apples, pears and quinces, fresh: Apples: No description	Preferential tariff for GSP countries	75%	1.62%
		at level 10	MFN duties (Applied)	0.015 € per kg	2.16%
	0808108003	Apples, pears and quinces, fresh: Apples: No description	Preferential tariff for GSP countries	75%	6.19%
		at level 10	MFN duties (Applied)	0.06 € per kg	8.26%
	0808108005	Apples, pears and quinces, 8005 fresh: Apples: No description at level 10	Preferential tariff for GSP countries	75%	10.63%
			MFN duties (Applied)	0.06 € per kg	7.97%
Nigeria	0808100000	Apples, pears and quinces, fresh: Apples	MFN duties (Applied)	20.00%	20.00%

Source: Market Access Map, ITC

The European Union operates an entry price system for apples originating from South Africa. As can be seen in Table 13, the system makes use of multiple tariff rates during different periods. The tariffs are higher when producers in the European Union member states are harvesting and selling their produce and they are lower during the off-season. It appears that apples are one of the products that were not included when the TDCA was negotiated; hence South African apples enter the EU market at MFN duties. The African countries in the top-ten list also impose higher tariffs (10% and above) on apple imports from South Africa enter Singapore and the United Arab Emirates free of duty. South African apples face the highest tariff in Angola at 50%. Malaysia imposes a 5% tariff on South African Apples.

In reality, the tariffs are likely to be far lower for South Africa when considering the preferential agreements, but at the same time, most tariff structures are particularly complex, with quotas, seasonal tariffs and specific tariffs (an amount per unit rather than a percentage of value) all contributing to many different tariff lines and often higher duties payable than one might have anticipated initially. One must also bear in mind that most tariffs are designated to protect domestic industries, and as such are likely to discriminate against those attempting to compete with the domestic producers of that country.

4.2 European Union (EU)

The EU has a seasonal tariff structures which are highest during the European peak harvesting seasons (the price entry system), quotas and specific tariffs, and various policies that allow, amongst other things, government organizations to purchase produce should supply rise too quickly (and thereby maintain

prices), and then release this excess back onto the market as and when supply drops again. The immediate implication of these policies for South Africa is that an opportunity exists to supply apples to the European market in the off season periods, as the produce will not compete directly with the European producers and thus would not be liable to a whole array of tariffs and other protective mechanisms.

There are other non-tariff barriers, including the phytosanitary and food health regulations laid down by the EU legislation, marketing standards and certificates of conformity, and the ever changing demand patterns of the EU consumers.

4.2.1 Tariff barriers

The EU applies a system known as entry price system. With this system, the EU establishes an 'entry price' at which produce may enter the EU market, which is not only based on the market price for the current year (demand and supply) and for previous years, but also on the prices of the domestic producers (prices they need to maintain profitability). It is calculated by the regulatory authorities so that it can be used in combination with tariffs and quotas to aid EU's attempts at protecting its agricultural system. The entry price is the minimum price at which produce may enter the market. If the price of the produce is lower than its calculated price, it is liable to have duties imposed upon it over and above any duties/quotas it might originally attract. Agricultural duties are applied as follows:

- When the value of the imported party is between 92% and 94% of the entry price, 8% of the entry price will be added to the normal customs duty.
- When the value of the imported party is between 94% and 96% of the entry price, 6% of the entry price will be added to the normal customs duty.
- When the value of the imported party is between 96% and 98% of the entry price, 4% of the entry price will be added to the normal customs duty.
- When the value of the imported party is between 98% and 100% of the entry price, 2% of the entry price will be added to the normal customs duty.

There are tariffs applicable over and above the entry price tariffs, depending on the produce, where it originates from and whether that country has any preferential trading agreements with the EU.

4.2.2 Non-tariff barriers

Non-tariff barriers can be divided into those that are mandatory and laid out in the EU Commission's legislature and those that are a result of consumers, retailers, importers and other distributors' preferences.

4.2.2.1 Legal requirements

i) Product legislation: quality and marketing

There are number of pieces of EU legislation that govern the quality of produce that may be imported, marketed and sold within the EU. They are as follows:

General Food Law which covers matters in procedures of food safety and hygiene (micro-biological and chemical), including provisions on the traceability of food (for example, Hazard Analysis and Critical Points, or HACCP), and it is laid out under regulation EC 178/2002.

EU Marketing Standards which govern the quality and labelling of fruit are laid out in the Common Agricultural Policy (CAP) framework under regulation EC 2200/96. These regulations include diameter, weight and class specifications, and any produce that does not comply with these standards will not be sold on the EU markets.

Certificate of Conformity must be obtained by anyone wishing to export and sell fruits in the EU, if that fruit falls under the jurisdiction of the EU marketing standards.

Certificate of Industrial Use must be obtained if the fruit is to be used in further processing.

Maximum Residue Limits (MRL) of various pesticides allowed.

ii) Product legislation: phytosanitary regulations

The international standard for phytosanitary measures was set up by the International Plant Protection Committee (IPPC) to protect against the spreading of diseases or insects through the importation of certain agricultural goods. The EU has its own particular rules formalized under EC 2002/89, which attempts to prevent contact of EU of crops with harmful organisms from elsewhere in the world.

The crux of the directive is that it authorizes the Plant Protection Services to inspect a large number of fruit products upon arrival in the EU. This inspection consist of physical examination of a consignment deemed to have a level of phytosanitary risk, identification of any harmful organisms and certification of the validity of any phytosanitary certificate covering the consignment. If the consignment does not comply with the requirements, it may not enter the EU, although certain organisms can be fumigated at the expense of the exporter.

iii) Product legislation: packaging

The EU Commission lays down rules for materials that come into contact with food and which may endanger people's health or bring about an unacceptable change in the composition of the foodstuffs. The framework legislation for this is EC 1935/2004. Recycling packaging materials are also emphasized under 94/62/EC, whereby member states are required to recycle between 50% and 65% of packaging waste. If exporters do not ship produce in packaging which is reusable, they may be liable for the costs incurred by the importing companies. Wood packaging is subject to phytosanitary controls and may need to undergo heat treatment, fumigation, etc.

4.2.2.2 Non-legal requirements

To access the market, importers must not only comply with legal requirements set out above, but must also with market requirements and demands. For the most part, these revolve around quality and the perception of European consumers about environmental, social, health and safety aspects of both the products and the production techniques. Whilst supplying fruit that complies with these issues may not be mandatory in

the legal sense, they are becoming increasingly important in Europe and cannot be ignored by existing or potential exporters.

i) **Social accountability** is becoming important in the industry, not only amongst consumers, but also for retail outlets and wholesalers. The Social Accountability 8000 (SA 8000) certification is a management system based on International Labour Organization (ILO) conventions, and deals with issues such as child labour, health and safety, and freedom of association, and requires an on-site audit to be performed annually. The certificate is seen as necessary tool for accessing any European market successfully.

ii) **Environmental issues** are becoming increasingly important with European consumers. Consumer movements are lobbying against purchasing non-environmentally friendly or non-sustainable produce. To this end, both governments and private partners have created standards (such as ISO 14001 and GLOBALPGAP) and labels to ensure that produce adhere to particular specifications.

Although eco-labels (for example, the EU Eco-label, the Netherlands Milieukeur, the German Blue Angel and the Scandinavian White Swan) are voluntary, they can afford an exporter a marketing edge, as consumers wishing to purchase environmentally sound produce demand products that are easily recognizable.

Another important emerging label is Fairtrade, and includes those labels offered by Max Haavelaar Foundation, TransFair International and the FLO (Fairtrade Labelling Organization). Recently a 'universal' logo was adopted based on international fair trade standards developed by FLO, which covers amongst other things, minimum quality and price, various processing requirements, compensation of small farmers that covers sustainable production and living standards, and contracts that allow for long term planning and development.

4.2.2.3 Consumer health and safety requirements

Increasing consumer conscience about health and safety issues has prompted a number of safety initiatives in Europe, such as GLOBALPGAP (formerly EUREPGAP) on good agricultural practices (GAP) by the main European retailers, the international management system of HACCP, which is independently certified and required by legislation for European producers as well as food imported into Europe (EC 852/2004), and the ISO 9000 management standards system (for producers and working methods) which is certified by the International Standards Organization (ISO).

The development of public and private standards involves interventions at multiple points along the value chain. An illustration of the multiple points and multiple standards that are applied for fresh fruit and vegetables and for fish is shown in Figure 28. There are controls by different agents carried out in different ways at different points along the value chain in response to the requirements of private sector companies, coalitions of private-sector standards setters and public agencies. Standards in agribusiness value chains operate, by definition, at multiple points. They are created, adopted, applied and verified by different actors (enterprises and institutions) at different points in the value chain.





Source: UNIDO

4.3 United States of America (USA)

4.3.1 Tariff barriers

South African exporters have completely free access to the USA markets under the Generalized System of Preference (GSP), the GSP for LCDs (Least Developed Countries) or the African Growth and Opportunity Act (AGOA). South African exporters must always compare with what Chile (the main supplier of fruit to the USA and South Africa's potential rival) must pay in terms of tariff duties when exporting fruit to the USA. Chile's access to the USA fruit market is considered to be highly preferential under its own Preferential Trade Agreement (PTA).

4.3.2 Non-tariff barriers

The USA's phytosanitary regulation is conducted by Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service (APHIS), which is divided into nine sub-sections. Plant Protection and Quarantine (PPQ) and Veterinary Services (VS) are responsible for issuing permits for commodities and determining whether a commodity can be

imported. The Policy and Program Development (PPD) division works with both these divisions in determining long term plans and procedures.

Some products can get pre-clearance from International Services (IS) personnel stationed in the country of origin, either at exporting terminals of site inspections. The PPQ's main focus is to prevent the spread of diseases and pests into the USA's agriculture resources, and it has personnel stationed at all airports, seaports and border stations that check imported cargo and oversee the quarantine process. Exporters or importers must make a request to export/import a commodity, provide as much information as possible on the product, its region of origin and its status that is whether there are restrictions or regulations governing that particular product from that particular region before a permit is issued, along with the conditions of importation (disinfestations treatment) or mitigation measures. Denials can be challenged and governments and companies can request a change in the status of a prohibited commodity (an investigation must be performed by the PPQ scientific team), as long as sufficient conditions have changed or a risk assessment has not been conducted within the last 10 years.

Most approved commodities can enter with inspection alone, but some may have to undergo mitigating measures including post-harvest treatments (hot/cold temperature treatments, irradiation or fumigation, depending on the requirements and which particular treatment is least harmful). The establishment of specifically and maintained pest-free areas in a country (which obviously requires extensive co-operation between the country's plant health services and APHIS IS division) or systems approaches (field surveys, random inspections or various onsite treatments.

In additions to phytosanitary regulations, the USDA Food Safety Inspection Services (FSIS) regulates sanitary practices in the packing of food products, while the Food and Drug Administration (FDA), which is part of the US Department of Health, regulates packaging and labelling. The HACCP protocol is used extensively. The USDA quality standards for fruits and vegetables provide basis for domestic and international trade and promote efficiency in marketing and procurement.

5. DISTRIBUTION CHANNELS

There are roughly three distinct sales channels for exporting fruits. One can sell directly to an importer with or without the assistance of an agent (usually larger, more established commercial operations). One can supply a fruit combined, which will then contract out importers/marketers and try to take advantage of economies of scale and increased bargaining power. At the same time combined fruits might also supply large retail chains. One can also be a member of a private or cooperative export organization which will find agents or importers and market the produce collectively. Similar to combined fruits, an export organization can either supply wholesale market or retail chains, depending on particular circumstances. Export organizations will wash, sort and package the produce.

They will also market the goods under their own name or on behalf of the member, which includes taking care of labelling, bar-coding, etc. Most of the time, export organizations will enter into collective agreements with freight forwarders, negotiating better prices and services (more regular transport, lower peak season prices, etc.). Some countries have institutions that handle all the produce (membership compulsory) and sell only to a restricted number of selected importers.

Agents will establish contacts between producers/export organizations and buyers in the importing country, and will usually take between 2% and 3% commission. In contrast, an importer will buy and sell his/her own

capacity, assuming the full risk (unless on consignment). They will also be responsible for clearing the produce through customs, packaging and assuring label/quality compliance and distribution of the produce. Their margins lie between 5% and 10%. The contract importers of fruit combines market and distribute the produce of the combines, clear it through customs and in some cases treat and package it.

Only few exporters have long term contracts with wholesale grocers who deliver directly to retail shops, but with the increasing importance of standards (EurepGap, etc.) and the year round availability of fruit, the planning of long term contractual relationships is expected to increase.

6. LOGISTICS

6.1 Mode of transport

The transport of fruits falls into two categories namely ocean cargo and air cargo. Ocean cargo takes much longer to reach the desired location but costing considerably less. The choice of transportation method depends, for most parts on the fragility of the produce and how long it can remain relatively fresh. With the advent of technology and container improvements, the feasibility, cost and attractiveness of sea transport have improved considerably. With the increased exports by South Africa, the number and the regularity of maritime routes have increased. These economies of scale could benefit South Africa if more producers were to become exporters and take advantage of the various ports which have special capabilities in handling fruit produce (for example, Durban's new fruit terminal).

6.2 Cold chain management

Cold chain management is crucial when handling perishable products, from the initial packing houses to the refrigerated container trucks that transport the produce to the shipping terminals, through to the storage facilities at these terminals, onto actual shipping vessels and containers, and finally on to the importers and distributors that must clear the produce and transport it to the markets/retail outlets. For every 10 Degree Celsius increase above the recommended temperature, the rate of respiration and ripening of produce can increase twice or even thrice. Related to this are increasing important traceability standards which require an efficient controlled supply chain and internationally accepted business standards.

6.3 Packaging

Packaging can also play an important role in ensuring safe and efficient transport of a product and conforming to handling requirements, uniformity, recyclable material specifications, phytosanitary requirements, proper storage needs and even attractiveness for marketing purposes.

The business panel of any carton (including printed carton labels) should comply with the requirements as established by the EU or any other regulations that are specified by a target market. Producers are advised to present their designs to the Perishable Products Export Control Board (PPECB) before they can order any cartons from a manufacturer. The following is normally required:

- Class I or II
- Fruit type
- Carton depth
- Country of Origin: "Produce of South Africa"

- Complete address of exporter or producer
- Name of variety
- Content of carton: "14 x punnets or bags"
- PUC or PHC code: Registered producer or Pack House Code with DAFF
- Date code
- Food safety accreditation number: Global Gap, Nature's Choice registration number, etc.

7. ORGANIZATIONAL ANALYSIS

7.1 Producer and associated organizations

Grower participation and control of their interests in the industry are structured by means of fruit type producer associations (Section 21 companies), as illustrated on Figure 29. The industry consists of Hortgro Services as its mouthpiece. Hortgro Services is responsible for administrative services and financial administration, as well as operational industry services such as transformation and training, information, communication and social programmes.

Hortgro Services comprises of its members, affiliated members and service entities. The members are the South African Apple and Pears Producers Association (SAAPPA), South African Stone Fruit Producers Association (SASPA), Dried Fruit Technical Services (DFTS), Protea Producers of South Africa (PPSA), South African Cherry Growers' Association (SACGA), and the South African Olive Industry Association.

The affiliated members are Rooibos Tea Producers Association, Pomegranate Producers Association, Cape Flora, South African Honeybush Tea Association (SAHTA), South African Bee Industry Organisation, South African Berry Producers Association.

The service entities are Fruitgro Science (DFPT Research), South African Plant Improvement Organisation (SAPO) Trust, Cultivar development Company (CULDEVCO), Sterile Insect Technique (SIT) Africa, Entomon Technologies and the SA Fruit Journal.

The main association responsible for the apple industry is the South African Apple and Pear Producers Association (SAAPPA). It is a Section 21 company and its objectives are as follows:

- To rationalize and promote the production and marketing of apples and pears, apple and pear products.
- To support and assist the development of the Association's decision-making systems and structures.
- To encourage and pursue constructive dialogue and mutual cooperation with government and other role players in order to promote the interest of the Association and its members.
- To foster mutual trust and long term relationships among role players and stakeholders.
- To establish and promote a reciprocal information system and promote the maintenance of responsible and sustainable production and marketing practices.



Figure 29: Structure of the producer interest in the deciduous fruit industry

Source: Hortgro

7.2 Strengths, Weaknesses Opportunities and Threat analysis

Some of the strengths, weaknesses, threats and opportunities of the apple production sector in South Africa are the following:

Strengths	Weaknesses
 The industry's export operations and leading players who account for approximately 80% of the overall exports are well established. An efficient export infrastructure exists and market access has been improved. The South African apple industry is known for excellent overall quality for fruit (strong reputation in major international markets). Sound communication mechanisms to majority of industrial participants. High level of investment in current technology within pack houses and cold chain facilities. Industry has all traceability systems in place, as required by accreditation protocols. 	 Production is largely dependent on climatic conditions which can only be partially manipulated by man through irrigation. Deteriorating research infrastructure and capacity may limit new technology development in the future. Saturation of traditional export markets. Reliance on the UK and EU as main export market. Relatively high input and capital costs. An element of fragmentation in the industry. Lengthy supply chain beyond the pack house. Lack of industry control on efficiency and productivity in supply chain beyond farm gate and pack house door. Poor skills and knowledge of the new entrants. Delays due to degradation of the supporting infrastructure within the supply chain (handling facilities at ports, roads and energy supply).
Threats	Opportunities
 Increased competition from the Southern Hemisphere counterparts like Chile, Brazil, Argentina and Australia. Oversupply of fruit into established export markets. Availability and cost of irrigation water. Impact of climate change especially in the Western Cape. Inflation rate with regard to cost of labour and farming and also packing prerequisites. Currency variability 	 Market access initiatives to the Middle East, Asia (India, Indonesia) and China. Increasing demand for fresh apples in Africa. Potential for increased local market consumption.

7.3 Strategic challenges

7.3.1 Labour markets

The critical need for labour at harvest time offers seasonal work to unemployed persons in the immediate vicinity of plantations. In most countries, workers migrate from one region to another as the harvest season

progresses from early to late. However, in the local scenario, labourers lack mobility as well as skills to find work outside crop harvesting.

A major challenge in terms of labour is the lack of skilled labour. At the same time, farm wage levels do not attract skilled or qualified people to undertake menial and hard work. Smaller producers, who pay comparatively lower wages, are more exposed than the larger producers to the threat of labour shortages.

7.3.2 Infrastructure

Some of the infrastructural challenges are as follows:

- Lack of storage capacity at certain times of the year, when apples and other fruits are being harvested (mid-January until end of February).
- Hygiene and micro-bacterial quality of water available for use in pack houses and domestic purposes on farms.
- Poor or no communication between the agricultural sector and service providers in terms of planning and future expansion on issues such as energy and transport.
- Transport from the pack house to the market road, ship or rail.
- Logistical systems which are not applied at full efficiency.
- Inefficient handling operations at South African ports, giving rise to costly delays and breaks in the cold chain.

7.3.3 Other challenges

Producers are being confronted with more regulations to control the production from farm to fork. These include regulating soil, air, water, chemical, labelling and safety. On the retailing side pressure mounts to introduce measures for increased traceability of products. The consumer wants a safe product produced with socially acceptable environmentally friendly production methods. Combined with this many consumers are up in arms about GMO's and the USA government is introducing a bio terrorism act that will put even more pressure on exporters to the USA.

Competition for scarce natural resources (land and water) is putting continued pressure on good farmland that can otherwise be used for agricultural purposes.

There is a threat of climate change particularly in the Western Cape Province. Production of apples and other fruits could be adversely affected by the warming of the winter season due to rising average temperatures and subsequent loss in chilling hours. Lack of winter chilling gives rise to delayed foliation and the problem of small fruit of poor quality. Increased average maximum temperatures in January and February may result in poor colour development. The risk of sunburn is also increased.

7.4 Opportunities

The promotion of the consumption of apples and other fruits should be implemented. Per capita consumption of apples at 4kg, in comparison to Asia's 13.25kg and the EU's 17.6kg highlights the scope for possible increase in sales of the local market.

7.5 Empowerment issues and transformation in the sector

According to Hortgro Services, transformation in the deciduous fruit industry has four focus areas. These are economic development, the Deciduous Fruit Development Chamber (DFDC), networking and agrivillages.

With regards to economic development, Hortgro Services serves as an implementation agent of CASP grants for the Western Cape Department of Agriculture. This provides an opportunity for Hortgro to provide matching funds for the implementation of targeted transformation projects in the province. The main focal point of economic development is the tree project. The tree project aims to increase production or footprint for Black Economic Empowerment (BEE) farmers.

To overcome transformation challenges and encourage it, the Deciduous Fruit Development Chamber (DFDC) was established as a national support structure for emerging deciduous fruit farmers. The DFDC provides space for incubator interactions that guide the business and technical assistance to emerging fruit farmers. The DFDC aims to fulfil a dynamic capacity building and advocacy role and to exert pressure in order to mobilise resources from various quarters, including government and the donor community.

Networking entails the building of relationships and networks in order to enhance the procurement of funds and other resources to help with the transformation process. This includes building working relations with all commercial banks and other DFIs and parastatals such as the Land Bank, Industrial Development Corporation (IDC), the Agricultural Research Council (ARC), and other industry stakeholders.

Agri-villages focus specifically on the provision of housing for farm workers and their families. Hortgro Services has committed itself to participating in organised agricultural initiatives to explore the following options as possible solutions to farm worker housing:

- On-farm housing without ownership rights.
- Off-farm housing without ownership, e.g. renting.
- Off-farm housing with ownership.

8. APPLE SUPPLY VALUE CHAIN

The supply value chain is a complex linkage of various production and operational role-players (see Figure 30). Key stakeholders include producer organisations, organised labour, NOGs, financial institutions, government, exporters and other traders. The following discussion focuses on the main segments of the apple value chain.

8.1 Suppliers of inputs and farming requisites

Fruit farming is a large user of specialised inputs and sophisticated agricultural chemicals. Input suppliers ensure that all inputs needed by farmers for successful production, including farm equipment, pesticides, insecticides and others, are always available at reasonable prices so as to ensure a competitive fruit industry in South Africa.

8.2 Producers

The core business of producers is to produce a high quality crop within "Good Agricultural Practice" protocols. Consistency, reliability of supply and producing varieties as demanded by the markets at affordable prices are also important facets of the producer's responsibility and business activities.

8.3 Fresh produce markets

FPMs are the dominant player and form of wholesaling in the South African apple and fresh fruit and vegetable (FFV) sector. However other wholesale forms do exist including independent wholesalers, contract buyers, supermarkets, wholesaling subsidiaries, as well as farmer sales direct to retailers and to consumers.

Being the largest wholesalers, the FPMs have emerged as the FFV price-setters or, as nicknamed, the "fresh produce stock exchange". The prices at the FPMs are arrived at through a bargaining process mediated by market agents who have a dual objective to collect the best prices (and hence commission) for sales while ensuring that the highly perishable stocks are cleared. These prices are then used as reference prices even in private transactions outside the FPMs.

8.4 Retailers

South African apple retailers exist in both the formal and informal sectors. In the former this includes formally registered retail chains, supermarkets and neighbourhood stores. The latter covers tuck shops (*sphaza*), and hawkers. In this environments apples sales are at predetermined prices and are typically individually or in small packages.

8.5 Processors

As explained earlier, the processing of apples consists of canning, drying and juice manufacturing. There is also a set of further processors not captured in the group above. These entities use apples (and apple products) in food preparations. This includes caterers, hospitality and other institutions such as corporates, government institutions like hospitals, prisons, etc.

8.6 Cold storage operators and transporters

Cold storage operators are responsible for receiving, handling, cooling the apples to the required temperature and for ensuring that the correct fruit is loaded out according to the exporter's specifications into a truck or container that has been approved or registered by Perishable Produce Export Control Board (PPECB). A flatbed truck or other non-approved vehicle may be used in journeys shorter than two hours in total.

Transporters perform a key link in the fresh fruit supply chain by facilitating the physical transfer of the products between parties such as the producer, cold store and terminal operator. Transporters are responsible for maintaining the cold chain during transit.

8.7 Exporters

The core business of exporters is to market and sell the fruit of primary producers at the best market price that they are able to negotiate. In order to realize this, the exporter needs to communicate with many of the

role players in the logistics chain (cold stores, transporters, shipping lines, port terminals, clearing and forwarding agents, PPECB, regional producers associations and special market inspectors, etc.). It is the exporters' responsibility to manage the cold chain, handle the fruit in an acceptable manner and, they are accountable for the quality of fruit that reaches the destination market.

The main organisation that handles the export of fruits in South Africa is the Fresh Produce Exporters' Forum (FPEF). The FPEF was registered in 1998 as a non-profit organisation and its membership is voluntary and open to all companies that export fresh fruit from South Africa. The FPEF's mission is to create, within free market principles and a deregulated environment, a prosperous but disciplined fruit export sector. It was established mainly to provide leadership and services to its members and the international buying community. The forum sees itself as the international community's gateway to providing South Africa's finest quality produce from highly reputable South African exporters.

8.8 PPECB

In terms of the PPECB Act (Act 9 of 1983) the PPECB is responsible for the "control of perishable products intended for export from the Republic of South Africa". This mainly involves the control of the cold chain (including the shipping process). PPECB also acts as a government "assignee" in terms of the APS (Agricultural Products Standards) Act (Act 119 of 1990) and is responsible for the "control over sale and export of agricultural and related products". PPECB controls (and certifies) that the quality standards of these products are met. The National Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries (DAFF) issues the phytosanitary certificates.

All PPECB and other inspection regulations, protocols or requirements must be met and adhered to. The Information and Communication Procedure (ICP) must therefore be seen in conjunction with the PPECB Act and its regulations, the APS Act, as well as those temperature and other specialized handling protocols and procedures as established by PPECB in conjunction with the industry. As more emphasis is placed on food safety and customers are demanding higher standards of quality, PPECB and other inspection bodies play an increasingly important role in the export of fresh produce from South Africa. PPECB may make the following information available to exporters and producers on request:

- Packed volumes
 - ✓ Inspected and approved for export
 - Inspected and rejected for export
- Product quality
 - ✓ Reasons for rejection
- Shipped volumes
 - ✓ This information is available on a product and destination region level
- Cold chain information
 - ✓ Vessel carrying instructions (temperature letter, vessel temperature log, statements of facts, deviations, etc.

The information outlined above is available in varying degrees of detail.

8.9 Terminal and port operators

Terminal operators must inform exporters, PPECB and other relevant parties in the supply chain such as transporters, producer associations, producers and cold stores about port related delays such as labour strikes, wind delays, plug-in congestion and other traffic congestion in the port that will impact on the flow of fresh produce into and out of the harbour. The South African Port Operations (SAPO) container terminal reports to shipping lines.





Source: OABS

9. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The following industries/organizations are acknowledged.

9.1 South African Apple and Pear Producers Association

P. O. Box 163 Paarl 7622 Tel: (021) 870 2900 Fax: (021)870 2915 www.hortgro.co.za

9.2 National Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries

Directorate: Statistics and Economic Services Private X 246 Pretoria 0001 Tel (012) 319 84 54 Fax (012) 319 8031 www.daff,.gov.za

9.3 Optimal Agricultural Business Systems (OABS)

P. O. Box 163 Paarl 7622 Tel: (021) 890 2953 Fax: (021) 890 2915 www.oabs.co.za

9.4 Trade and Industrial Policy Strategies (TIPS)

P. O. Box 11214 Hatfield 0028 Tel (012) 431 7900 Fax (012) 431 7910 www.tips.org.za

9.5 National Agricultural Marketing Council (NAMC)

Private Bag X 935 Pretoria 0001 Tel (012) 341 1115 Fax: (086) 626 4769 www.namc.co.za

9.6 International Trade Centre (ITC)

www.intracen.org

9.7 United Nations Industrial Development Organization

www.unido.org

Disclaimer: This document and its contents have been compiled by the Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries for the purpose of detailing apple industry. Anyone who uses this information does so at his/her own risk. The views expressed in this document are those of the Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries with regard to agricultural industry, unless otherwise stated. The Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries therefore, accepts no liability that can be incurred resulting from the use of this information.